
1

THESE MINUTES ARE PRESENTED IN DRAFT FORM AND HAVE NOT
BEEN FORMALLY APPROVED BY THE ENFIELD INLAND WETLANDS AND 

WATERCOURSE AGENCY.  OFFICIAL COPIES OF MINUTES, WHEN APPROVED,
CAN BE OBTAINED FROM THE TOWN CLERK OR PLANNING OFFICE.

MINUTES
ENFIELD INLAND WETLANDS AND WATERCOURSES AGENCY

TUESDAY, AUGUST 9, 2016 – 7:00 p.m.
SPECIAL MEETING

ENFIELD TOWN HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBERS (first floor)
820 Enfield Street, Enfield, CT  06082

SPECIAL MEETING

Chairman Donna Corbin-Sobinski called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

Secretary Jane Smith called the roll.

Members Present:  Chairman Donna Corbin-Sobinski, Secretary Jane Smith, 
and Commissioners John Hayes, Carrie-Anne Wagner-Howe, Virginia Higley and
Alternate Kevin Zorda

Also Present:  Roger J. O’Brien, Director of Planning, Jennifer Pacacha, 
Assistant Town Planner and Rick Rachele, Town Inspector
Absent:  Commissioner Robert Chagnon

Roger O’Brien introduced Jennifer Pacacha as the new Assistant Town Planner.

Approval of Minutes – July 5, 2016 - Regular Meeting

Commissioner Higley made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Hayes, to 
approve the minutes.  The motion passed with a 4-0-1 vote.  Secretary Smith 
abstained.

New Business:
a. IW# 574 – Site plan application for a warehouse/distribution/office and

related improvements to parking areas and loading docks located at 25
Bacon Road; I-1 Zone (Industrial One); Map 095/Lot 0005; WE 25
Bacon Road, LLC owner/applicant.



2

Valarie Ferro and Jim Petropulos, representing WE 25 Bacon Road, LLC,
introduced themselves and discussed the project narrative.  Ms. Ferro stated
that they were seeking approval for renovating the existing buildings to attract
new tenants, and to construct a distribution/warehouse facility upon the vacant
land to the rear of the property.  Ms. Ferro explained that the former Hallmark
property was used for warehousing and distribution until it closed and was
purchased in June 2016 by Winstanley Enterprises. The proposed use of the
former Hallmark property is to remain as a warehousing and distribution space
with offices.  Ms. Ferro stated that the development of this site is being
completed in three phases, and Phase I is the focus of the current application.
Phase I encompasses only improvements to the smaller existing “low-bay”
building and the associated loading docks and parking lots. A dividing wall is
proposed to be constructed within the “low-bay” building to allow occupancy by
two tenants – one with 225,953 SF of area and one with 466,693 SF of area.
Ms. Ferro also stated that part of the improvements on site are within the
upland review area, and therefore are subject to the approval of the Inland
Wetlands and Watercourses Agency.

Mr. Petropulos stated that the former Hallmark property is 325 acres consisting
of three tracts of land.  To the north, the property abuts the Massachusetts
state line. To the west, the property abuts residential neighborhoods along
Cottage Road. To the east, the property abuts more residential neighborhoods
along with old railroad tracks. To the south, the property abuts Bacon Road and
the southeast is a commercial industrial park. Mr. Petropulos explained that
there are two existing curb cut driveways that access the property. The low-bay
building is 700,000 SF and 40’ in height with a parking area that has 495
spaces in the front of the building. There are also small parking areas to the
north of both the low-bay and high-bay buildings.  Mr. Petropulos stated that
wetlands do exist on the property including a small farm pond and the outlet of
Crescent Lake. In the south portion of the property, there are also numerous
wooded wetlands and outlets that connect to Freshwater Brook.  Man-made
drainage swales around the buildings also exist that have been flagged by
Aecom and are a part of the proposed plans.

Mr. Petropulos stated there are proposed minor site improvements for the
following, (improvement area one):  In the south parking lot, cracks would be
filled, sealed and restriped. Portions of this parking lot exist in the 100’ wetland
upland review area.

Mr. Petropulos stated that there are also proposed minor site improvements for
the following, (improvement area two):  On the west side of building where the
loading docks exist. Some of the concrete has eroded over time and is in poor
condition. Loose debris would be airbrushed off of the loading docks and the



3

pads would be paved over to give it a new look. He also noted that a very small
portion of the loading docks exist in the 100’ wetland upland review area.

Mr. Petropulos also stated that both the silt and orange construction fences will
be established along the lines of the upland review area to make contractors
aware of the area and that nothing can be drained into it or graded.

Commissioner Higley asked if Phase One is the only part of the project that has
wetlands in it.

Mr. O’Brien stated that there are three phases to the project, but the focus
tonight is on the low-bay building.  There will be a second phase for the “high-
bay” building.

Ms. Ferro stated that there would not be any direct or indirect impacts to the
wetlands.

Secretary Smith stated the photos the commissioners received show the
damaged concrete and exposed re-bar in the old concrete of the loading docks.
Secretary Smith asked how the applicant plans to power-brush the concrete
and pave over it.

Ms. Ferro stated that it is a repair and there are types of concrete adhesives
that can be used to fix the old concrete.

Commissioner Higley made a motion, seconded by Secretary Smith, to approve 
IW# 574 – Phase 1.  The motion passed with a 5-0-0 vote.

Old Business:

a. IW# 573 -  Proposed vehicle repair as well as retail and wholesale 
sales of cars, trucks, motorcycles, recreational vehicles and boats; 
wholesale auction site at 157 South Road; (Map# 55/Lot# 82); I-1 
Zone; Joseph Bosco, Somers CT owner; Eric Hewitt, applicant. New 
maps received in office on 7/28/2016 – Application tabled as 
incomplete on 7/5/2016. (DoR 7/5/2016; MAD 9/8/2016).

Mr. O’Brien addressed the Commission to explain that the application was 
tabled at the last meeting, so a motion needs to be made to take it off the 
table. 

Commissioner Wagner-Howe made a motion, seconded by Commissioner 
Higley, to take IW# 573 off the table.  The motion passed with a 5-0-0 vote.



4

Mr. Eric Hewitt, applicant, was present at the meeting with his attorney, 
Wendell Avery, and his certified soil scientist, Martin Brogie.

Attorney Avery discussed the project narrative for the proposed auto repair 
facility.  The property at 157 South Road has a history of a dealership license 
on the property for a used auto and repair business that dates back to 1967.  
Mr. Avery stated that the applicant is proposing the same type of activity on the
same footprint of the property with no proposed expansion or changes of use, 
or site improvements under this application. Mr. Avery also stated that there is 
a fenced-in area on the property for the storage of vehicles, and the existing 
parking area and building are shown on the map.

Mr. Brogie discussed the wetland delineation report that he completed on July 
11 & 12, 2016 for 157 South Road associated with the continued use of the 
property.  Mr. Brogie told the commission that the report he provided, dated 
July 25, 2016, was in their meeting packet.

Mr. Brogie stated the following regarding his soil report for 157 South Road:
 The property is zoned industrial and is approximately 13 acres.
 There is an existing service garage on property that was built in 1968.
 There is an existing asphalt parking lot and paved driveway that enters 

the site from South Road.
 A wetland band is located in the southwestern portion of the property.
 The drainage on this property naturally runs northward and there was 

grading done on the site during the 1970’s when the industrial park was 
being built.

 The wetlands that are located in the western part of property were 
culverted and extend north to south.

 There is existing native vegetation and seasonal standing water, as well 
as a drainage ditch on the south side of South Road, which was
culverted under South Road.

 The report is based on soil types per the Connecticut General Statutes, 
and Mr. Brogie hand dug a series of test pits on site.

 An existing unnamed watercourse crosses the property flowing generally
toward the north and west.  The watercourse comes from a large 
wetland area at the east side of property, and is culverted under the 
entrance driveway.

Secretary Smith asked if there were any catch basins or underground storm 
structures on the property.

Mr. Hewitt stated that there were not.

Secretary Smith asked about all the parked vehicles relating to drainage.



5

Mr. Brogie stated that the water from all the parked vehicles will go directly into
grass areas and that the cars for sale would all be in good condition so they 
should not leak any fluids.

Commissioner Hayes stated that he has concerns with the back of the building 
on the south side where the existing septic tank is located. He asked how far 
from wetlands the tank was located.
Mr. Hewitt stated that it was four or five feet from wetlands and previously, 
there were many auto body parts and debris there that has since been cleaned 
up.

Secretary Smith stated that she thinks it is a good application package and that
she was not at the last IWWA meeting when the application was tabled.

Commissioner Higley stated that the plans show the inside of the building and 
asked whether there were any drains inside the building.

Mr. Hewitt stated that there were no drains inside the building.

Mr. O’Brien stated that the commission has a report with photos from the 
Assistant Town Engineer, John Cabibbo.  It is a pre-development drainage 
report, but there is no post-development drainage report.  The Town’s 
regulations require that the parking areas be paved, and if they are paved, then
there would be additional impervious surface and run-off.  The Health 
Department also has concerns and is looking for more information on the septic
tank (because it is only four or five feet from wetlands) and the existing well on
the property.  Mr. O’Brien stated that there was no information on the volume 
of cars that will be stored on the property and also, according to John Cabibbo’s
report, the existing parking areas are in poor condition.

Mr. O’Brien also stated that the approval granted in 1967 was for a general 
repairer’s license for an auto body shop only. The current Town regulations do 
not allow an automotive use in an Industrial-1 Zone, so the applicant would 
need a Special Permit to expand a non-conforming use, and will need to submit
a new application to the Planning and Zoning Commission.  Mr. O’Brien stated 
that the new use must be less intense than the previous use.

Chairman Corbin-Sobinski asked what the enclosed chain link fence area would 
be used for.

Mr. Hewitt stated that he is keeping the chain link fence area for a dog-run, and
that it is a grassy area.



6

Chairman Corbin-Sobinski stated that she has concerns with the septic tank 
system because it is old and may need to be replaced.

Commissioner Wagner-Howe stated that the septic system can affect the 
wetlands. 

Mr. Hewitt stated that he does not think there are any problems with the septic 
system.

Secretary Smith stated that the proposed conditions of approval should be the 
following:

 Condition #1 – no car storage will be allowed in the fenced-in area unless
is it paved.

 Condition #2 – the pavement needs to be repaired on the existing 
parking lot.

 Condition #3 – new drainage calculations must be submitted after the 
newly-paved areas on the property are completed.

 Condition #4 – must submit a report on the status of the septic tank and 
system.

 Condition #5 – (this condition added by Chairman Corbin-Sobinski) that 
all plans must be updated accordingly.

Commissioner Hayes stated that there wasn’t enough information on the septic 
tank and system, and that the concerns of the Health Department would need 
to be addressed before the commission can approve the application. 

Commissioner Higley stated that she agreed and that the application should be 
tabled until more information regarding the condition of the septic system is 
available.

Commissioner Corbin-Sobinski agreed and stated that the septic system on site
might not be able to support the use of the site as proposed. 

Mr. Hewitt stated that the toilets flush and the water is working in the building.

Commissioner Corbin-Sobinski stated that testing the toilets to see if they flush 
does not mean that the septic system can support the more intense use of 
operating an auto repair shop with a dealer’s license. If the septic system needs
to be replaced with a larger system or moved, then it may impact the wetlands 
in the future.  

Commissioner Higley made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Wagner-
Howe, to re-table IW# 573.  The motion passed with a 5-0-0 vote.



7

b.    354 and 356 Hazard Avenue Enforcement – Cease & Desist Order in
       place.

Mr. Rachele told the Commission that it was suggested at the previous meeting 
that a new Cease and Desist Order be issued because of the conditions that 
were changed on the property.  Mr. Rachele said that on July 11, 2016, he sent
out a certified letter to the property owner and the letter came back unclaimed.
Mr. Rachele said he spoke to the owner by phone and she told him that she is 
in the process of getting the car and the wood chips removed from the 
property, and that she would re-plant grass seed in the area.  Mr. Rachele said 
conditions at the site have not changed.

Chairman Corbin-Sobinski asked if the owner had any thought as to when 
everything will be done.  

Mr. Rachele said no but, said she made plans this week to have a landscaper 
come over to do the work.

Discussion on setting a date for the work to be completed by:  Secretary Smith 
said the next IWWA meeting is not until September and said Labor Day would 
be a good date.  Commissioner Higley said by the end of August.  
Commissioner Wagner-Howe said by August 31.

c.    Crescent Lake water removal Enforcement – Barile Landscaping 
       Construction, LLC.

      Mr. Rachele said Mr. Barile has presented the letter from the water company 
regarding hydrant hook-up and there is a copy in your packets.  Chairman 
Corbin-Sobinski said this matter is considered closed.

Other Business:

      a.    49 Barrett Road – Determination of need for Commission application.
             (swimming pool)

Mr. O’Brien said he did an Administrative Approval on this application for a 
swimming pool.  Mr. O’Brien said when he looked at the wetlands map, it 
looked like the wetland area went right through the backyard.  Mr. O’Brien said 
he went to 49 Barrett Road with Ms. Pacacha to research the application and 
said the wetland area is not located where it shows on the map.  Mr. O’Brien 
said the wetland area is actually located farther back so therefore, he was able 
to do an Administrative Approval.

      b.    160 Hazard Avenue – site clear cutting



8

Mr. O’Brien said this is regarding a new medical building that was approved 
about five years ago by the IWWA Commission and then got an extension of 
time from the Commission.  Mr. O’Brien said the application was approved by 
both the IWWA and PZC Commissions.  Mr. O’Brien said there were conditions 
of approval that had requirements for buffer areas and also, for mature trees.  
Under both approvals, PZC and IWWA, the conditions stated that all mature 
trees located on the project site be flagged and next step needed would be to 
call the Planning and Zoning Department and ask to schedule a pre-
construction conference.  Mr. O’Brien said it would be determined at the 
conference if the mature trees really needed to be cut down or if they may be 
saved.  Mr. O’Brien said the applicant just went ahead and clear cut the site
and then apologized and stated they had not read the conditions of approval.

Mr. O’Brien told the Commission that a Verbal Cease and Desist Order has been
issued for this project.

Adjournment
Commissioner Wagner-Howe made a motion to adjourn, seconded by 
Commissioner Higley.  The meeting adjourned at 9:11 p.m. following a 5-0-0 
vote.

The next regular meeting is Tuesday, September 6, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. in the 
Council Chambers.

Minutes prepared by – Pamela J. Schweitzer

Approved by Commission:

____________________
Jane Smith, Secretary


